## CHILDREN'S MENTAL HEALTH POLICY RESEARCH PROGRAM

UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

# Preventing and Treating Anxiety Disorders in Children and Youth

A Research Report Prepared for the British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development

June 2004

Charlotte Waddell 

Rebecca Godderis 

Josephine Hua

Kimberley McEwan 

William Wong

VOLUME 1 REPORT 1



**Children's Mental Health Policy Research Program** 

Suite 430 - 5950 University Boulevard Vancouver BC V6T 1Z3 www.childmentalhealth.ubc.ca

Copyright © The University of British Columbia

## **CONTENTS**

Acknowledgements	2
Preface	3
Executive Summary	4
1. Introduction	6
1.1 What are Anxiety Disorders?	6
1.2 Prevention and Treatment Issues	7
1.3 Purpose of this Report	7
2. Methods	8
3. Findings	9
3.1 Summary	9
3.2 Prevention	10
Universal Prevention Programs	10
Targeted Prevention Programs	11
3.3 Treatment	12
Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy Exposure Treatment	12 13
Exposure Treatment Medications	14
Other Treatments	15
4. Discussion	16
5. Recommendations	18
6. References	19
Appendix A: Key Features of Anxiety Disorders in Children	24
Generalized Anxiety Disorder	24
Separation Anxiety Disorder	24
Social Phobia	24
Specific Phobia	24
Panic Disorder Post traumatic Stress Disorder	25 25
FOST traumatic Stress disorder	25
Appendix B: Criteria for Evaluating Research Articles	26

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

#### We thank the following people who commented on earlier drafts of this report:

- Child and Youth Mental Health Team, British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development
- Provincial Advisory Committee on Child and Youth Mental Health, British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development

#### We also thank the following people who provided research and editorial assistance:

- Susan Cuthbert
- Orion Garland
- Rakel Kling

#### Funding for this work was provided by:

- Child and Youth Mental Health Team, British Columbia Ministry of Children and Family Development
- Canadian Population Health Initiative, Canadian Institute for Health Information

### PREFACE

This report is one in a series of research reports being prepared by the Children's Mental Health Policy Research Program at the University of British Columbia at the request of British Columbia's (BC's) Ministry of Children and Family Development (MCFD). At any given time, over one in seven or 140,000 children in BC experience mental disorders serious enough to impair their development and functioning at home, at school and in the community.¹ MCFD has made it a goal to improve children's mental health in BC. To assist MCFD to achieve this goal, in 2002–2003 we produced four reports on: population health and clinical service considerations;² on practice parameters for treating attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder, depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder and schizophrenia;³ on child psychiatric epidemiology;¹ and on performance monitoring.⁴ In 2003, MCFD then announced a new *Child and Youth Mental Health Plan* (the *Plan*)⁵ to better address the needs of children and families in BC.

Our research reports will support the *Plan* by identifying the most effective approaches for preventing and treating a variety of children's mental health problems. This report focuses on anxiety disorders. We have also recently produced reports on conduct disorder<sup>6</sup> and on the mental health of First Nations children.<sup>7,8</sup> Future reports will focus on suicide prevention, early psychosis, depression, eating disorders, co-morbidity, at tention problems and other mood and developmental problems. Future reports will also address knowledge exchange, parenting and service models. These reports are intended to be a resource for policy-makers, practitioners, families, teachers and community members working with children in BC. We recognize that research evidence is only one component of good policy and practice. Our goal, nevertheless, is to facilitate evidence-based policy and practice by making summaries of the best research evidence available to everyone concerned with improving children's mental health in BC.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Anxiety disorders are the most common mental disorders in children. They are associated with high social costs and immense personal distress. Over 64,000 children in BC are affected. Anxiety disorders take many forms but are characterized by a persistent pattern of excessive worry and uneasiness that interferes with healthy development and functioning in multiple domains of life. The following anxiety conditions are included in this report: generalized anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder, social phobia, specific phobia, panic and post-traumatic stress (obsessive compulsive disorder will be addressed in a separate report).

It is increasingly recognized that both prevention and treatment strategies are required to reduce the distress and impairment associated with anxiety disorders in children. Historically, however, most public investments have been made in treatment services. While it is not yet clear which causal risk and protective factors contribute to the development of anxiety disorders, there is nevertheless emerging research evidence on prevention. Therefore, this report focuses on both preventing and treating anxiety disorders in children in order to guide policy and practice in BC. Using systematic review methods, we identified the best available research evidence completed over the past 10 years. To be included, studies had to meet a high standard involving randomization, use of comparison groups, a maximum drop-out rate of 20 per cent at post-test, and evidence of both clinical and statistical significance in populations similar to BC's.

#### **Findings**

- Seven prevention articles met criteria. Most efficacious anxiety prevention programs used cognitive-behavioural techniques in school settings with either universal or targeted approaches.
- Twenty-six treatment articles met criteria. For most anxiety disorders, cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) was the most efficacious treatment. For specific phobias, live graded exposure was the most efficacious treatment.
- Preliminary evidence of efficacy was found for other treatments from a small number of studies. Medications such as serotonergic anti-depressants improve anxiety symptoms in short-term studies but are associated with serious side effects. Other psychotherapies for specific phobias were found to reduce symptoms but less so than live graded exposure.

#### Recommendations

- Prevention is crucial and should be part of the spectrum of mental health strategies for children in BC. Prevention programs should be piloted and modelled after cognitive-behavioural techniques described in the research. Schools are ideal settings for delivering both universal and targeted prevention programs.
- CBT is strongly supported by the research evidence and should be considered the standard of care for treating most types of anxiety disorders in children. CBT can be delivered in both group and individual formats and can involve parents. Live graded exposure should be considered the standard of care for treating specific phobias.
- Although some serotonergic anti-depressant medications have been found to reduce symptoms, given the side effects and given the recent concerns about safety in children, these medications should not be first-line treatments for anxiety disorders in children except in severe cases. It is essential to carefully monitor all children being treated with medications.
- For both prevention and treatment, approaches that are not supported by the best available research evidence should be discontinued or carefully evaluated.
- For populations where the research evidence is lacking (such as children with concurrent mental health problems), prevention and treatment interventions should be modelled after the approaches that are supported in the research.
- Newly developed prevention and treatment interventions should be consistent with the research evidence. Fidelity to the original program models should be ensured and outcomes should be rigorously evaluated.

# 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 What are Anxiety Disorders?

Anxiety disorders involve a persistent pattern of worry and uneasiness in children that causes distress and interferes with healthy development. They are characterized by a relatively early age of onset, recurring episodes or chronic symptoms, and periods of being unable to function at home, at school or in the community.<sup>9</sup> The conditions included in this report are generalized anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder, social phobia, specific phobia, panic and post-traumatic stress (obsessive compulsive disorder will be addressed in a separate report). To be diagnosed with an anxiety disorder as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-IV-TR) of the American Psychiatric Association (APA),<sup>10</sup> a child must exhibit disorder-specific anxiety symptoms and these symptoms must cause significant impairment in functioning (for a detailed description, see Appendix A). There are no definitive biological or psychological tests for anxiety disorders. Consequently, diagnoses must be made clinically based on reports from multiple informants (children, parents, teachers and others), ideally involving multidisciplinary team assessment.

Large-scale community-based epidemiological surveys in Canada, the UK and the US show that anxiety disorders are the most common children's mental disorders with an estimated prevalence rate of 6.4 per cent.¹ BC has a population of approximately one million children.¹¹ This means that at any given time, at least 64,000 children in BC may be seriously affected. Concurrent mental health problems such as depression and other anxiety disorders are common and add to the child's distress and impairment.¹² Anxiety disorders in childhood lead to an elevated risk for adult anxiety and depression.¹³ Given the large number of children affected and the established link between child and adult disorders, the social costs associated with anxiety disorders are high.

Like other complex children's mental health problems, anxiety disorders are likely caused by a web of interacting factors.<sup>13</sup> Risk factors are characteristics, events or processes that increase the likelihood of the onset of a disorder.<sup>14</sup> In contrast, protective factors can moderate the impact of risk factors by allowing children to develop resilience in the face of adversity.<sup>15</sup> While many factors may be correlated with a disorder, not all are causal. To be causal, factors must precede the onset of a disorder and must be shown to alter the symptoms of the disorder if they are altered.<sup>16,17</sup> For complex problems like mental disorders in children, notions of causation must also take into account the way that factors interact over time as children develop.<sup>13</sup> To date, no consistent causal factors have been defined for childhood anxiety disorders. Children of anxious parents are more likely to experience anxiety and most children diagnosed with anxiety disorders are female. However, it is not known whether these patterns are influenced by genetics, parenting styles or other factors. As a result, there is little consensus about which risk and protective factors affect the development of childhood anxiety.<sup>18</sup>

#### 1.2 Prevention and Treatment Issues

The distress and impairment associated with anxiety disorders in children makes prevention a priority. Prevention programs begin early — *before* disorders develop — to enhance protective factors or mitigate risk factors and therefore reduce the number of new cases of disorders in the population.<sup>15,19,20</sup> Prevention programs may be either universal or targeted. Universal programs are directed at entire populations while targeted programs are directed at children identified as being at high-risk on the basis of having risk factors or early symptoms.<sup>15,21</sup> Both types of prevention programs have advantages and disadvantages.<sup>22</sup> Universal programs avoid isolating or labelling particular children but may be unnecessarily expensive and may intervene with many children and families who are not at risk.

Meanwhile, targeted programs can be more efficient but require accurate identification of children at risk, which is difficult. Targeted programs may also expose identified children to labelling and stigma. Although more research is required to determine the optimal mix of universal and targeted prevention programs, it is generally agreed that both are needed.

Prevention and treatment fall on a continuum of interventions to address mental disorders. Prevention is a priority if we are to reduce the number of children with anxiety disorders. However, treatment is crucial for children who have established symptoms of disorder. Treatment aims to reduce the duration, severity and impairment associated with a disorder, as well as prevent recurrence. Treatment focuses on individuals or small groups rather than on populations. As with prevention, there are trade-offs. Treatment provides much needed support to children and families and can alleviate symptoms through a specific focus on those who are most severely affected. However, treatment programs are costly, may result in labelling and associated stigma, and cannot reach all children in need. Evidence from large-scale epidemiological surveys in Canada and elsewhere indicates that fewer than 25 per cent of children with serious mental disorders (including anxiety) receive treatment from specialized mental health services (although more than 50 per cent likely receive services through primary care and schools). While the optimal mix of prevention and treatment is not yet known, it is generally acknowledged that both strategies are needed if we are to reduce the distress and impairment associated with children's mental disorders, including anxiety.

#### 1.3 Purpose of this Report

In the prevention literature, several recent reviews have examined children's issues. However, while comprehensive, these reviews did not deal with the issue of prevention in young children,<sup>23</sup> were not systematic<sup>24</sup> or did not specifically focus on mental health.<sup>19</sup> Similarly, recent reviews on the treatment of anxiety disorders were not systematic,<sup>25-27</sup> did not explore interventions for a broad age range (zero to 18 years)<sup>28</sup> or focused too narrowly on certain treatment approaches (such as medication).<sup>29-33</sup> No previous reviews have examined the prevention and treatment of anxiety disorders for the full range of ages and interventions. Consequently, this report was requested by MCFD in order to inform the development of more effective policies and programs for preventing and treating anxiety.

# 2 METHODS

Using Medline, PsycINFO and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, we searched for original studies published from 1991-2003 on preventing or treating anxiety disorders in children aged zero to 18 years. Studies were included that examined efficacy (can this intervention work in ideal settings?) and, if possible, effectiveness (does this intervention work in usual settings?). We also sought information on the costs of interventions. The search terms for prevention were prevention, early childhood development and anxiety disorder. The search terms for treatment were anxiety disorder, separation anxiety, social phobia, phobia, panic disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder, combined with treatment, management, intervention or therapy. Where applicable, search terms were modified to follow database indexing. We also searched for systematic reviews on the prevention and treatment of anxiety disorders. Systematic reviews were then hand-searched to identify additional studies. All abstracts identified through these searches were assessed. Relevant articles were then retrieved. Two independent reviewers assessed all articles retrieved using the criteria outlined in Appendix B. To be included, studies had to meet a high standard involving randomization, use of comparison groups, a maximum drop-out rate of 20 per cent at post-test, and evidence of both clinical and statistical significance in populations similar to BC's. For studies of medications, we also required double blinding and placebo controls. All treatment populations met standard diagnostic criteria for at least one anxiety disorder diagnosis, except for post-traumatic stress where studies included children who had severe clinical symptoms but did not necessarily meet full diagnostic criteria (due to the limited number of studies where children met full diagnostic criteria). Disagreements about which articles to include were resolved by consensus involving the first three authors. A meta-analysis was not attempted due to the diverse methods used and populations studied. Studies were then summarized according to prevention program or treatment type.

# 3 FINDINGS

#### 3.1 Summary

In total, 10 prevention and 74 treatment articles were retrieved. Of these, seven articles on prevention and 26 articles on treatment met criteria for inclusion in our review. All interventions demonstrated clinically and statistically significant reductions in symptoms and behaviours relevant to anxiety. Sample sizes in prevention studies ranged from 25 to 594 and in treatment studies from 18 to 290. Most studies used comparison groups comprising usual care, wait list controls or no intervention. Four treatment studies used other therapies as comparison groups. Prevention results are summarized by program (see Tables 1 and 2) and grouped as universal or targeted. All programs except one used cognitive-behavioural techniques. The *STEP* prevention program<sup>38</sup> focused on modifying the school environment to enhance the ability to adjust to junior high school and to mitigate situations that may provoke anxiety. Treatment results are summarized by type (see Tables 3 through 6) and grouped as cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT), exposure treatment, medications or other treatments. CBT was the intervention used for treating most anxiety disorders and was applied in individual, group and family formats. For specific phobias, exposure treatment was mainly used.

All prevention studies and most treatment studies were conducted in the US or Australia. Two CBT treatment studies were conducted in the Netherlands<sup>37,39</sup> and two in Canada.<sup>35,40</sup> One exposure treatment study was conducted in Sweden<sup>41</sup> and one eye movement reprocessing desensitization (EMDR) study was conducted in the Netherlands.<sup>36</sup> Boys and girls were equally represented in most studies. However, one prevention study<sup>42</sup> involved only boys and one treatment study<sup>36</sup> involved only girls. Both prevention and treatment studies included predominately Caucasian groups. Overall, few studies were conducted in Canada and none included First Nations populations.

Although only efficacy was required for inclusion in this report, we also assessed whether studies demonstrated effectiveness. Only one prevention study (*STEP*)<sup>38</sup> established both efficacy and effectiveness because it was conducted in a school setting that approximated a "real world" situation. Most prevention and treatment studies included follow-up measures, assessing participants over the longer term. Follow-up for the prevention programs ranged from 11 weeks to two years whereas for the treatment interventions, it ranged from three months to five years. None of the medication studies completed follow-up. In addition, none of the prevention or treatment studies assessed costs.

#### 3.2 Prevention

#### **Universal Prevention Programs**

Three universal prevention programs were described in four articles (see Table 1). All programs were based in primary or middle schools. *Cognitive-Behavioral Stress Management*<sup>42</sup> and *FRIENDS*<sup>43,44</sup> used cognitive-behavioural techniques to teach children how to use problem solving and relaxation skills to manage feelings of worry and anxiety. *STEP*<sup>38</sup> re-organized the school environment to reduce anxiety provoking situations and create stronger links between children, parents, teachers and peers.

TABLE 1. Universal Programs for Preventing Anxiety Disorders

Program	Sample	Description	Main Findings
Cognitive- Behavioral Stress Management (US) <sup>42</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Urban adolescent boys</li> <li>Age: 15-16 years</li> <li>Sex: 100% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 96% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child intervention; duration not reported</li> <li>Used cognitive restructuring or anxiety management training to reduce stress</li> <li>School-based group sessions followed by individual training for 30-40 minutes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety &amp; depressive symptoms</li> <li>Effects maintained at 11-week follow-up</li> </ul>
FRIENDS (Australia) <sup>43,44</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children from urban schools</li> <li>Age: 10-13 years</li> <li>Sex: 47% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Not reported</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child, family &amp; school intervention over 10 weeks</li> <li>Children received weekly         <ul> <li>1-hour teacher-led cognitive behavioural sessions</li> </ul> </li> <li>Parents at tended 3 sessions of child management skills training</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety &amp; depressive symptoms</li> <li>Results strongest for children with high levels of anxiety at pre-test</li> <li>Effects maintained at 1-year follow-up</li> </ul>
STEP (US) <sup>38</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children at tending urban, suburban &amp; rural schools</li> <li>Age: 11-12 years</li> <li>Sex: Not reported</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Not reported</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>School intervention over         2 years     </li> <li>School environment         organized to create stable         peer support &amp; reduce         complexity of setting for         students moving to junior         high school</li> <li>Students were assigned to a         group that at tend all core         classes together</li> <li>Homeroom teachers acted as         a key resource person for         children &amp; parents</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety &amp; depressive symptoms &amp; antisocial behaviour</li> <li>No follow-up</li> </ul>

#### **Targeted Prevention Programs**

Two targeted prevention programs were described in three articles (see Table 2). Both were based in middle schools and used cognitive-behavioural techniques. The *Penn Prevention*<sup>45</sup> program focused on children who had depressive as well as anxiety symptoms, while the *Queensland*<sup>46,47</sup> program focused on children who had anxiety symptoms only.

TABLE 2. Targeted Programs for Preventing Anxiety Disorders

Program	Sample	Description	Main Findings
Penn Prevention (US) <sup>45</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Rural children with elevated depression</li> <li>Age: 11-13 years</li> <li>Sex: 50% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Caucasian (% not reported)</li> </ul>	Child intervention over 12 weeks     Weekly school-based cognitive-behavioural group sessions	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Effects maintained at 6-month follow-up</li> </ul>
Queensland (Australia) <sup>46,47</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with elevated anxiety</li> <li>Age: 7-14 years</li> <li>Sex: 27% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Over 70% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child &amp; family intervention over 10 weeks</li> <li>Children received weekly 1-2 hour cognitive-behavioural sessions</li> <li>Parents at tended 3 child management training sessions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Effects maintained at 2-year follow-up</li> </ul>

#### 3.3 Treatment

#### Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy

Four types of CBT were described in 19 articles (see Table 3). In the treatment setting, CBT children to reframe negative thoughts and develop positive coping skills. Most studies used individual or group sessions over 10–20 weeks and included a family component.

TABLE 3. Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy for Anxiety Disorders

Treatment	Sample	Description	Main Findings
Individual CBT (US) <sup>48-50</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with generalized or separation anxiety disorder or social phobia</li> <li>Age: 9-13 years</li> <li>Sex: 57% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 82% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child intervention over 16 weeks</li> <li>Used exposure, reinforcement techniques, cognitive strategies &amp; relaxation training</li> <li>Weekly 1-hour sessions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Effects maintained at 3-year follow-up</li> </ul>
Individual CBT with family component (Australia, Canada, Netherlands, US) <sup>37,39,51-55</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with generalized or separation anxiety disorder, panic or social phobia, or posttraumatic stress resulting from sexual abuse</li> <li>Age: 5-18 years</li> <li>Sex: 42% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 91% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child &amp; parent intervention over 10-20 weeks</li> <li>Individual child CBT plus a family component that involved parent-only and/or parent &amp; child sessions about CBT principles, behaviour management skills &amp; family communication</li> <li>Weekly 30–90-minute sessions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Compared to childonly CBT, family CBT was generally superior</li> <li>Effects maintained at 6-year follow-up except for family CBT, which was no longer superior</li> </ul>
Group CBT (US) <sup>56-58</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with generalized or separation anxiety disorder, social phobia or post-traumatic stress resulting from violence</li> <li>Age: 8-16 years</li> <li>Sex: 32% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Diverse</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child intervention over 10-18 weeks</li> <li>Adapted techniques from individual CBT for groups of 5-8 children</li> <li>Weekly 90-minute sessions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Effects maintained at 6-month follow-up</li> </ul>
Group CBT with family component (Australia, Canada) <sup>34,35,40,59-61</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with any anxiety disorder other than posttraumatic stress</li> <li>Age: 6-14 years</li> <li>Sex: 51% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 85% Caucasian or English-speaking</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child &amp; parent intervention over 10-14 weeks</li> <li>Adapted techniques from individual CBT plus family component to a group format</li> <li>One study focused on teaching parents to manage their own anxiety</li> <li>Weekly 30-minute to 2-hour sessions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Compared to childonly group CBT, family group CBT was generally superior</li> <li>Effects maintained at 1-year follow-up</li> </ul>

#### **Exposure Treatment**

Two types of exposure treatment were described in two studies (see Table 4). Exposure treatment pairs a feared stimulus with relaxation in order to desensitize the child to the stimulus. Both studies involved variations on live graded exposure techniques that expose a child directly to the feared stimulus (e.g., a spider). Live graded exposure treatment received much empirical support prior to 1991 (the cut-off date for our searches) and is considered a well-established treatment for children with specific phobias.<sup>31</sup> The studies identified in our review add to this previous work with a family component or the use of computer-aided vicarious exposure (CAVE).

TABLE 4. Exposure Treatment for Anxiety Disorders

Treatment	Sample	Description	Main Findings
Brief live graded exposure with family component (Sweden) <sup>41</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with any specific phobia</li> <li>Age: 7-17 years</li> <li>Sex: 38% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Not reported</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child &amp; parent intervention over 1 day</li> <li>Exposed child to the feared stimulus while parents provided support</li> <li>One 3-hour session</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Similar gains found with child-only brief exposure</li> <li>Effects maintained at 1-year follow-up</li> </ul>
CAVE (Australia) <sup>62</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with a spider phobia</li> <li>Age: 10-17 years</li> <li>Sex: 36% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 100% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child intervention over 9-12 days</li> <li>Exposed child to a computer representation of spiders</li> <li>Three 45-minute sessions every 3-4 days</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>CAVE superior to waitlist but live graded exposure was superior to CAVE (live graded exposure &gt; CAVE &gt; waitlist)</li> <li>Effects maintained at 1-month follow-up</li> </ul>

#### Medications

Three serotonergic anti-depressant medications were described in three studies (see Table 5). All three were selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). Anxiety is associated with reduced circulating levels of serotonin, a neurotransmitter in the brain that regulates mood and emotion. SSRIs are thought to work by inhibiting the reuptake of serotonin, thereby increasing its availability.

TABLE 5. Medications for Anxiety Disorders

Treatment	Sample	Description	Main Findings
Fluoxetine (US) <sup>63</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with generalized or separation anxiety disorder, or social phobia</li> <li>Age: 7-17 years</li> <li>Sex: 46% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 96% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>12-week intervention</li> <li>Medication management visits once every 2 weeks</li> <li>Maximum dose: 20 mg/day</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Significantly more abdominal discomfort in treatment group</li> <li>No follow-up</li> </ul>
Fluvoxamine (US) <sup>12</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with generalized or separation anxiety disorder, or social phobia</li> <li>Age: 6-17 years</li> <li>Sex: 51% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 63% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>8-week intervention</li> <li>Weekly medication management &amp; supportive counselling sessions</li> <li>Maximum dose: 250 mg/day for children less than 12 years old; 300 mg/day for children over 12 years old</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Significantly more abdominal discomfort and increased motor activity in treatment group</li> <li>No follow-up</li> </ul>
Sertraline (US) <sup>64</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with generalized anxiety disorder</li> <li>Age: 5-17 years</li> <li>Sex: 77% male</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 81% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>9-week intervention</li> <li>Medication management visits once every week</li> <li>Maximum dose: 50 mg/day</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>No significant difference between treatment and control groups on reports of side effects</li> <li>No follow-up</li> </ul>

#### **Other Treatments**

Two additional treatments were described in two studies (see Table 5). Emotive imagery and EMDR used desensitization techniques to treat children with specific phobias.

TABLE 6. Other Treatments for Anxiety Disorders

Treatment	Sample	Description	Main Findings
Emotive imagery (Australia) <sup>65</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with a darkness phobia</li> <li>Age: 7-10 years</li> <li>Sex: Not reported</li> <li>Ethnic majority: Not reported</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child intervention over 6 weeks</li> <li>Used guided imagery to pair feared images with positive emotions</li> <li>Weekly 40-minute sessions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>Effects maintained at 3-month follow-up</li> </ul>
EMDR (Netherlands) <sup>36</sup>	<ul> <li>Focus: Children with a spider phobia</li> <li>Age: 8-17 years</li> <li>Sex: 100% female</li> <li>Ethnic majority: 100% Caucasian</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Child intervention over 1 day</li> <li>Therapist directed children move their eyes laterally while describing images of spiders</li> <li>One 4-hour session</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improvements in anxiety symptoms</li> <li>EMDR was superior to computerized exposure but live graded exposure was superior to EMDR (live graded exposure &gt; EMDR &gt; computerized exposure)</li> <li>No follow-up</li> </ul>

# 4 DISCUSSION

Overall, there is a considerable body of research evidence on preventing and treating anxiety disorders in children. The prevention and treatment interventions we reviewed primarily focused on cognitive-behavioural techniques to help children develop coping skills and manage anxiety. All prevention and treatment interventions were efficacious in both males and females. There was no information about the costs of either prevention or treatment interventions.

Regarding prevention, our findings indicate that school-based universal interventions can be successful at reducing anxiety symptoms regardless of risk status. Prevention programs that used cognitive-behavioural techniques to foster coping skills in children, such as the *FRIENDS* program, 43,44 were found to be efficacious. As well, the *STEP* program produced benefits by restructuring the school environment to support stable peer networks and simplifying the school setting to ease the transition into junior high school.<sup>38</sup> Prevention programs that specifically targeted children with elevated anxiety or depression also demonstrated a reduction in symptoms. However, these programs required accurate identification of children at higher risk for anxiety disorders, which can be difficult in school-age children.

Regarding treatment, evidence for CBT was uniformly positive for most anxiety disorders. CBT is a potent, relatively short-term 10-to-20 week treatment that can be delivered individually or in groups when wait-times or costs are a concern. Inclusion of a family component may improve outcomes but this conclusion was not uniformly supported by the studies and improvements were not always maintained long term. In seven studies that compared child CBT to child-plus-family CBT, two studies found no difference,<sup>37,39</sup> three suggested child-plus-family was better but not significantly so,<sup>34,59,61</sup> and two showed child-plus-family was significantly superior.<sup>40,51</sup>

Live graded exposure treatment for specific phobias in children was well supported in the literature prior to 1991 and remains so.<sup>31</sup> One study found support for a brief (one day) version of live graded exposure in both child-only and child-plus-family conditions.<sup>41</sup> Furthermore, two studies compared newer treatments for phobic children, EMDR<sup>36</sup> and CAVE,<sup>62</sup> to live graded exposure. Although CAVE and EMDR were found to be efficacious, live graded exposure was superior to both of these newer treatments. Therefore, there is insufficient evidence to support the use of CAVE and EMDR in treating specific phobias in children. As well, since there is only one study to support emotive imagery,<sup>65</sup> live graded exposure remains the standard of care for specific phobias.

Although medications can reduce anxiety symptoms, in two of the three medication studies SSRIs were associated with significant side effects. More importantly, there is growing concern that for children, SSRIs may cause emotional and behavioural changes that increase the risk of selfharm or harm to others. Recently Health Canada issued a warning that in a small number of cases, these medications have been associated with an increase in suicidal thoughts and the onset or worsening of adverse events such as suicide in children. In addition, the advisory notes that while prescribing is a physician's responsibility, Health Canada has not specifically authorized the use of SSRIs in children. Consequently, there is insufficient evidence to support the use of SSRI's in children except for severe situations where other treatments cannot be used and where there is close monitoring.

There are several limitations in the prevention and treatment research. First, most studies were completed with Caucasian populations. Because response may be affected by ethnicity,<sup>67</sup> studies involving different ethnic populations are required. Second, only two CBT treatment studies were done in Canada. Differences in health, social and education systems can also have an impact on outcomes for children. Evaluations preformed in a Canadian context, such as the research currently underway in BC on the *FRIENDS* program,<sup>68</sup> are needed to increase our understanding of local implementation issues and outcomes. Finally, most studies we reviewed did not assess concurrent disorders. Since concurrent mental health problems are common for children diagnosed with anxiety,<sup>1</sup> more research addressing optimal treatments in this population is required.

Despite the limitations, the research suggests that there is good evidence to support new public policy investments in both preventing and treating anxiety disorders in children. Prevention is preferable given the high distress and impairment associated with anxiety disorders. Cognitivebehavioural approaches are the most promising strategies for both prevention and treatment. In fact, our review of the literature revealed a cognitive-behavioural program, *FRIENDS*, that appears to be efficacious across the entire spectrum, as a universal prevention program, as a targeted prevention program and as a treatment. A3,44,46,47,60 New policies and programs need to be informed by this research evidence. Careful evaluation of all new programs is imperative and would make a valuable contribution to both research and policy development in Canada.

## 5 RECOMMENDATIONS

- Prevention is crucial and should be part of the spectrum of mental health strategies for children in BC. Prevention programs should be piloted and modelled after cognitive-behavioural techniques described in the research. Schools are ideal settings for delivering both universal and targeted prevention programs.
- CBT is strongly supported by the research evidence and should be considered the standard of care for treating most types of anxiety disorders in children. CBT can be delivered in both group and individual formats and can involve parents. Live graded exposure should be considered the standard of care for treating specific phobias.
- Although some serotonergic anti-depressant medications have been found to reduce symptoms, given the side effects and given the recent concerns about safety in children, these medications should not be first-line treatments for anxiety disorders in children except in severe cases. It is essential to carefully monitor all children being treated with medications.
- For both prevention and treatment, approaches that are not supported by the best available research evidence should be discontinued or carefully evaluated.
- For populations where the research evidence is lacking (such as children with concurrent mental health problems), prevention and treatment interventions should be modelled after the approaches that are supported in the research.
- Newly developed prevention and treatment interventions should be consistent with the research evidence. Fidelity to the original program models should be ensured and outcomes should be rigorously evaluated.

## 6 REFERENCES

- 1. Waddell, C., Offord, D. R., Shepherd, C. A., Hua, J. M., & McEwan, K. (2002). Child psychiatric epidemiology and Canadian public policy-making: The state of the science and the art of the possible. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 47, 825-832.
- 2. Waddell, C., McEwan, K., Hua, J., & Shepherd, C. (2002). Child and youth mental health: *Population health and clinical service considerations.* Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia.
- 3. Waddell, C., Hua, J., & Shepherd, C. (2002). *Child and youth mental health: Draft practice parameters.* Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia.
- 4. Waddell, C., & McEwan, K. (2003). *Child and youth mental health: Core services and outcome monitoring.* Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia.
- 5. Ministry of Children and Family Development. (2003). *Child and youth mental health plan for British Columbia.* Victoria, BC: Ministry of Child and Family Development.
- 6. Waddell, C., Wong, W., Hua, J., & Godderis, R. (2004). *Preventing and treating conduct disorder.* Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia.
- 7. Mussell, B., Cardiff, K., & White, J. (2004). *The mental health and well-being of Aboriginal children and youth: Guidance for new approaches and services.* Chilliwack, BC: Sal'i'shan Institute.
- 8. Mussell, B., Cardiff, K., & White, J. (2004). *The mental health and well-being of Aboriginal children and youth: Annotated bibliography.* Chilliwack, BC: Sal'i'shan Institute.
- 9. National Institutes of Health & Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Adminstration. (1999). Mental health and mental disorders (pp. 18(1)–18(32)). In National Institutes of Mental Health (Ed.) *Healthy People 2010: Conference Edition.* Washington, DC: National Institutes of Health.
- 10. American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., text revision). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- 11. British Columbia Stats. (2003). *British Columbia population by age and gender, 1971-2003.* Retrieved April 8, 2004 from http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/pop/pop/BCPopage.html
- 12. Research Unit on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Anxiety Study Group. (2001). Fluvoxamine for the treatment of anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 344, 1279–1285.
- 13. Silverman, W. K., & Treffers, P. D. A. (Eds.). (2001). *Anxiety disorders in children and adolescents: Research, assessment and intervention.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- 14. Kazdin, A. E., & Weisz, J. R. (2003). *Evidence-based psychotherapies for children and adolescents*. New York: The Guildford Press.
- 15. Mzarek, P. J., & Haggerty, R. J. (Eds.). (1994). *Reducing risk for mental disorders: Frontiers for preventive intervention research.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- 16. Kraemer, H., Kazdin, A., Offord, D., Kessler, R., Jensen, P., & Kupfer, D. (1997). *Coming to terms with the terms of risk. Archives of General Psychiatry, 54,* 337–343.
- 17. Sackett, D., Haynes, B., Guyatt, G., & Tugwell, P. (1991). *Clinical epidemiology: A basic science for clinical medicine* (2nd ed.). Toronto, ON: Little, Brown & Company.

- 18. Costello, E. J., & Agnold, A. (1995). Epidemiology. In J. March (Ed.), *Anxiety disorders in children and adolescents* (pp. 109–124). New York: Guildford Press.
- 19. Crill Russell, C. (Ed.). (2003). *The state of knowledge about prevention/early intervention.*Toronto, ON: Invest in Kids Foundation.
- 20. Shonkoff, J. P., & Philipps, D. A. (Eds.). (2000). *From neurons to neighborhoods.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- 21. Thornicroft, G., & Tansella, M. (1999). *The mental health matrix: A manual to improve services.* Cambridge, UK: University Press.
- 22. Offord, D. R., Kraemer, H. C., Kazdin, A. E., Jensen, P. S., & Harrington, R. (1998). Lowering the burden of suffering from child psychiatric disorder: Trade-offs among clinical, targeted and universal interventions. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry,* 37, 686-694.
- 23. Greenberg, M. T., Domitrovich, C., & Bumbarger, B. (2001). The prevention and treatment of mental disorders in school-aged children: Current state of the field. *Prevention and Treatment*, *4*, 1-63.
- 24. Offord, D. R., & Bennett, K. J. (2002). Prevention. In M. Rutter & E. Taylor (Eds.), *Child and adolescent psychiatry: Modern approaches* (4th ed., pp. 881–899). Cambridge, MA: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- 25. American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. (1997). Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with anxiety disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 36,* 69–84.
- 26. American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. (1998). Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with post traumatic stress disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 37, 4–26.
- 27. Ollendick, T. H., & King, N. J. (1998). Empirically supported treatments for children with phobic and anxiety disorders: Current status. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 27*, 156–167.
- 28. Compton, S. N., Burns, B. J., Egger, H. L., & Robertson, E. (2002). Review of the evidence base for treatment of childhood psychopathology: Internalizing disorders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 70,* 1240–1266.
- 29. Allen, A. J., Leonard, H., & Swedo, S. E. (1995). Current knowledge of medications for the treatment of childhood anxiety disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *34*, 976–986.
- 30. Cheer, S. M., & Figgitt, D. P. (2001). Fluvoxamine: A review of its therapeutic potential in the management of anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Paediatric Drugs, 3,* 763–781.
- 31. Chorpita, B. F., Yim, L. M., Donkervoet, J. C., Arensdorf, A., Amundsen, M., McGee, C., Serrano, A., Burns, J. A., & Morelli, P. (2002). Toward a large-scale implementation of empirically supported treatments for children: A review and observations by the Hawaii Empirical Basis to Services Task Force. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *9*, 165–190.
- 32. Prins, P. J. M., & Ollendick, T. H. (2003). Cognitive change and enhance coping: Missing mediational links in cognitive behavior therapy with anxiety-disordered children. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 6,* 87–105.

- 33. Zaider, T. I., & Heimberg, R. G. (2003). Non-pharmacologic treatments for social anxiety disorder. *Acta Psychiatria Scandanavia*, 108, 72–84.
- 34. Cobham, V. E., Dadds, M. R., & Spence, S. H. (1998). The role of parental anxiety in the treatment of childhood anxiety. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 66, 893–905.
- 35. Manassis, K., Mendlowitz, S. L., Scapillato, D., Avery, D., Fiksenbaum, L., Freire, M., Monga, S., &t Owens, M. (2002). Group and individualized cognitive-behavioral therapy for childhood anxiety disorders: A randomized trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41, 1423–1430.
- 36. Muris, P., Merckelbach, H., Holdrinet, I., & Sijsenaar, M. (1998). Treating phobic children: Effects of EMDR versus exposure. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 66,* 193–198.
- 37. Nauta, M. H., Scholing, A., Emmelkamp, P. M. G., & Minderaa, R. B. (2001). Cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety disordered children in a clinical set ting: Does additional cognitive parent training enhance treatment effectiveness? *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, 8,* 330–340.
- 38. Felner, R. D., Brand, S., Adan, A. M., Mulhall, P. F., Flowers, N., Sartain, B., & DuBois, D. L. (1993). Restructuring the ecology of the school as an approach to prevention during school transitions: Longitudinal follow-ups and extensions of the School Transitional Environment Project (STEP). *Prevention in Human Services, 10,* 103–136.
- 39. Nauta, M. H., Scholing, A., Emmelkamp, P. M. G., & Minderaa, R. B. (2003). Cognitive behavioral therapy for children with anxiety disorders in a clinical set ting: No additional effect of a cognitive parent training. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 42, 1270–1278.
- 40. Mendlowitz, S. L., Manassis, K., Bradley, S., Scapillato, D., Miezitis, S., & Shaw, B. F. (1999). Cognitive-behavioral group treatments in childhood anxiety disorders: The role of parental involvement. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 38,* 1223–1229.
- 41. Ost, L., Svensson, L., Hellstrom, K., & Lindwall, R. (2001). One-session treatment of specific phobias in youths: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 69,* 814–824.
- 42. Hains, A. A. (1992). Comparison of cognitive-behavioral stress management techniques with adolescent boys. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 70, 600-605.
- 43. Lowry-Webster, H. M., Barrett, P. M., & Dadds, M. R. (2001). A universal prevention trial of anxiety and depressive symptomatology in childhood: Preliminary data from an Australian study. *Behaviour Change, 18,* 36–50.
- 44. Lowry-Webster, H. M., Barrett, P. M., & Lock, S. (2003). A universal prevention trial of anxiety symptomology during childhood: Results at 1-year follow-up. *Behaviour Change*, *20*, 25-43.
- 45. Roberts, C., Kane, R., Thomson, H., Bishop, B., & Hart, B. (2003). The prevention of depressive symptoms in rural school children: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71, 622–628.
- 46. Dadds, M. E., Holland, D. E., Laurens, K. R., Mullins, M., Barret t, P. M., & Spence, S. (1999). Early intervention and prevention of anxiety disorders in children: Results at 2-year follow-up. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 67,* 145–150.
- 47. Dadds, M. R., Spence, S., Holland, D. E., Barrett, P. M., & Laurens, K. R. (1997). Prevention and early intervention for anxiety disorders: A controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 627-635.

- 48. Kendall, P. C. (1994). Treating anxiety disorders in children: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *62*, 100–110.
- 49. Kendall, P. C., & Southam-Gerow, M. A. (1996). Long-term follow-up of a cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety-disordered youth. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 64,* 724–730.
- 50. Kendall, P. C., Flannery-Schroeder, E., Panichelli-Mindel, S. M., Southam-Gerow, M., Henin, A., & Warman, M. (1997). Therapy for youths with anxiety disorders: A second randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 366-380.
- 51. Barret t, P. M., Dadds, M. R., & Rapee, R. M. (1996). Family treatment of childhood anxiety: A controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 64,* 333–342.
- 52. Barret t, P. M., Duffy, A. L., Dadds, M. R., & Rapee, R. M. (2001). Cognitive-behavioral treatment of anxiety disorders in children: Long-term (6 year) follow-up. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69, 135–141.
- 53. Deblinger, E., Lippman, J., & Steer, R. A. (1996). Sexually abused children suffering post traumatic stress symptoms: Initial treatment outcome findings. *Child Maltreatment*, *1*, 310–321.
- 54. Deblinger, E., Steer, R. A., & Lippman, J. (1999). Two-year follow-up study of cognitive behavioral therapy for sexually abused children suffering from post-traumatic stress symptoms. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *23*, 1371–1378.
- 55. King, N. J., Tonge, B. J., Mullen, P., Myerson, N., Heyne, D., Rollings, S., Martin, R., & Ollendick, T. H. (2000). Treating sexually abused children with posttraumatic stress symptoms: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 39*, 1347–1355.
- 56. Flannery-Schroeder, E. C., & Kendall, P. C. (2000). Group and individual cognitive-behavioral treatments for youth with anxiety disorders: A randomized clinical trial. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 24, 251–278.
- 57. Hayward, C., Varady, S., Albano, A., Thienemann, M., Henderson, L., & Schatzberg, A. (2000). Cognitive-behavioral group therapy for social phobia in female adolescents: Results of a pilot study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 39,* 721–726.
- 58. Stein, B. D., Jaycox, L. H., Kataoka, S. H., Wong, M., Tu, W., Elliott, M. N., & Fink, A. (2003). A mental health intervention for school children exposed to violence: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *290*, 603–611.
- 59. Barret t, P. M. (1998). Evaluation of cognitive-behavioral treatments for childhood anxiety disorders. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *24*, 459-468.
- 60. Shortt, A. L., Barrett, P. M., & Fox, T. L. (2001). Evaluating the FRIENDS program:

  A cognitive-behavioral group treatment for anxious children and their parents. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 30,* 525–535.
- 61. Spence, S. H., Donovan, C., & Brechman-Toussaint, M. (2000). The treatment of childhood social phobia: The effectiveness of a social skills training-based, cognitive-behavioral intervention, with and without parental involvement. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 41, 713–726.
- 62. Dewis, L. W., Kirkby, K. C., Martin, F., Daniels, B. A., Gilroy, L. J., &t Menzies, R. G. (2003). Computer-aided vicarious exposure for spider phobia in children. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychology,* 32, 17–27.

- 63. Birmaher, B., Axelson, D. A., Monk, K., Kalas, C., Clark, D. B., Ehmann, M., Bridge, J., Heo, J., & Brent, D. A. (2003). Fluoxetine for the treatment of childhood anxiety disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 42, 415-423.
- 64. Rynn, M. A., Siqueland, L., & Rickels, K. (2001). Placebo-controlled trial of sertraline in the treatment of children with generalized anxiety disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*, 2008–2014.
- 65. Cornwall, E., Spence, S. H., & Schotte, D. (1996). The effectiveness of emotive imagery in the treatment of darkness phobia in children. *Behaviour Change*, *13*, 223–229.
- 66. Health Canada. (2004). *Health Canada advises Canadians of stronger warnings for SSRIs and other newer anti-depressants.* Retrieved June 23, 2004 from http://www.hc-sc.qc.ca/english/protection/warnings/2004/2004\_31.htm
- 67. Pina, A. A., Silverman, W. K., Fuentes, R. M., Kurtines, W. M., & Weems, C. F. (2003). Exposure-based cognitive-behavioral treatment for phobic and anxiety disorders: Treatment effects and maintenance for Hispanic/Latino relative to European-American youths. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 42,1179-1187.
- 68. Miller, L. (2004, June 9). Personal communication.
- 69. Evidence-Based Mental Health. (2004). Purpose and procedure. Evidence-Based Mental Health, 7, 30-31.



#### Key Features of Anxiety Disorders in Children

For any anxiety disorder diagnosis in childhood, a child must be under 18 years of age and must display symptoms that significantly impair functioning at home, at school, with peers or in the community. The following descriptions are adapted from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual* of the American Psychiatric Association.<sup>10</sup>

#### Generalized Anxiety Disorder (referred to as overanxious disorder prior to 1994)

For a diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder, a child must experience excessive anxiety and worry with at least one of the following symptoms during the past six months:

- Restlessness
- Fatigue
- Difficulty concentrating
- Irritability
- Muscle tension
- Sleep disturbance

#### **Separation Anxiety Disorder**

For a diagnosis of separation anxiety disorder, three or more of the following symptoms must be present during the past four weeks:

- Distress when separated from home or major at tachment figures (e.g. parents)
- Complaints of physical symptoms when separating from major attachment figures
- Concern about harm to major attachment figures
- Fear of being alone at home and in other set tings
- Reluctance to go to sleep without a major at tachment figure close by
- Fear of sleeping away from home
- Repeated nightmares involving the theme of separation

#### Social Phobia (referred to as avoidant disorder prior to 1994)

For a diagnosis of social phobia, all of the following symptoms must be present for at least six months:

- Fear of social situations where the child is exposed to unfamiliar people or to scrutiny by others
- Exposure to the feared situation provokes anxiety
- Anxiety must occur in peer settings (not just in interactions with adults)
- The feared situation(s) are avoided or are endured with intense distress

#### Specific Phobia (referred to as simple phobia prior to 1994)

For a diagnosis of specific phobia, all of the following symptoms must be present for at least six months:

- Marked and persistent fear cued by the presence or anticipation of a specific object or situation
- Exposure to the phobic stimulus provokes an immediate anxiety response
- The phobic stimulus is avoided or endured with intense distress

#### Key Features of Anxiety Disorders in Children continued

#### **Panic Disorder**

For a diagnosis of panic disorder, the child must have recurrent unexpected panic at tacks and at least one at tack must be followed by a month of one of the following symptoms:

- Concerns about having additional attacks
- Worry about the consequences of the attack
- Significant behaviour changes related to at tacks

#### **Post-traumatic Stress Disorder**

For a diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder, a child must have been exposed to a traumatic event involving death or serious injury or a threat to the physical integrity of self or others. The child's response must involve intense fear, helplessness or horror. The child must have symptoms present in the past four weeks from each of the following clusters:

The traumatic event is persistently re-experienced in at least one of the following ways:

- Distressing recollections of the event or repetitive play in which themes of the trauma are expressed
- Recurrent distressing dreams
- Feeling as if the traumatic event were recurring or actual trauma-specific re-enactment
- Psychological distress when exposed to cues that symbolize an aspect of the trauma
- Physiological reactivity when exposed to cues that symbolize an aspect of the trauma

Persistent avoidance of stimuli associated with the trauma and numbing of general responsiveness, as indicated by at least three of the following:

- Efforts to avoid thoughts, feelings or conversations about the trauma
- Efforts to avoid activities, places or people that are reminders of the trauma
- Inability to recall an important aspect of the trauma
- Markedly diminished interest or participation in significant activities

Persistent symptoms of increased arousal as indicated by at least two of the following:

- Sleep disturbance
- · Irritability or anger
- Difficulty concentrating
- Hypervigilance
- Exaggerated startle response

# B APPENDIX B

#### Criteria for Evaluating Research Articles

#### **Basic Criteria**

- Original or review articles in English about humans
- About topics relevant to children's mental health in BC communities

#### **Reviews**

- Clear statement of relevant topic
- Clear description of the methods including sources for identifying literature reviewed
- Explicit statement of criteria used for selecting articles for detailed review
- At least two studies reviewed meet criteria for assessing original research studies

#### **Research Studies**

- Clear descriptions of participant characteristics, study settings and interventions
- Random allocation of participants to comparison groups
- Maximum drop-out rate of 20% (post-test)
- Outcome measures of both clinical and statistical significance
- For treatment, diagnostic "gold" standard used for assessment
- For medication, double-blinding, placebo-controlled procedures used

(Adapted from Evidence Based Mental Health69)